WOOA

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. 82,612

WILLIAM ROBERTS,

Petitioner,

-Vs-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

BENNETT H. BRUMMER Public Defender Eleventh Judicial Circuit of Florida 1320 Northwest 14th Street Miami, Florida 33125 (305) 545-1960

BRUCE A. ROSENTHAL Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 227218

Counsel for Petitioner

SID J. WHITE MAR 24 1994

FILE

CLERK, SUPREME COURT

By_____Chief Deputy Clerk

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner, WILLIAM ROBERTS, was the appellant in the Third District Court of Appeal and the defendant in the trial court. The Respondent, the State, was the Appellee in the district court and the prosecution in the trial court. The parties will be referred to in this brief as they stood before the trial court. The two appeals below, DCA Case Nos. 93-229 and 93-320, involved the same issue and were consolidated for decision by the district court. The designation "R-1." will refer to the record on appeal in DCA Case No. 93-229; the designation "R-2." will refer to the record on appeal in DCA Case No. 93-230; and the designation "Tr. [date]" will refer to the corresponding transcript of proceedings.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

On January 8, 1993, the defendant, who was on community control following a negotiated plea of nolo contendere in Monroe Circuit Case No. 90-2049 to one count of accessory after the fact and in Circuit Case No. 90-1827 to one count of burglary (Count I) and one count of grand theft (Count II) (R-1. 4-6, 20, 21-22, 26, 27, 32; R-2. 4-7, 32-33, 34, 49-51), appeared before Circuit Judge Richard Fowler and entered a plea to technical violations of the terms of supervision. (Tr. Jan. 8, 1993 at 3-4).¹

When the defendant was initially placed on community control, the category five (Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.988(e)) guidelines scoresheet which had been filed scored a total of 46 points, placing the defendant in the first grid, with a recommended and permitted range of any non-state prison sanction. (R-2. 39).

The Department of Corrections recommendation on the community control violation was twenty-two months imprisonment, concurrent on both cases. (Tr. Jan. 8, 1993 at 3, 5). Over defense objection that in sentencing for the violation it was required to use the original scoresheet, the trial court utilized a new scoresheet filed by the State, which included juvenile record scoring not included on the original scoresheet, with a new total of 95 points and a permitted range of two-and-a-half years to five-and-a-half

The defendant admitted the following violations: having tested positive for cocaine; having been at Friday's restaurant on one occasion and at Fantasy Fest on another when he was supposed to have been at home; and being in arrears in restitution. (R-1. 46, 54; R-2. 83, 96; Tr. Jan. 8, 1993 at 3-4).

years imprisonment, three cells above the original scoresheet cell. (Tr. Jan. 8, 1993 at 6-8; R-1. 55, 58; R-2. 39, 94); Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.988(e)). Under the new scoresheet, the trial court sentenced the defendant to concurrent terms of five years imprisonment. (Tr. Jan. 8, 1993 at 9; R-1. 58; R-2. 105).

On consolidated appeal, the district court affirmed the sentence on the authority of <u>(Anthony) Roberts v. State</u>, 611 So. 2d 58 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), in which it had held, in express and direct conflict with every other district court of appeal, that when a defendant is sentenced on a revocation of probation, a different guidelines scoresheet, containing additional convictions omitted from the original scoresheet without fault of and without any misrepresentation by the defendant, may be utilized under the sentencing guidelines. <u>(William) Roberts v. State</u>, 623 So. 2d 870 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993). Review in <u>(Anthony) Roberts v. State</u> has been granted by this Court. Case No. 81,182 (Fla. July 12, 1993).

The Third District issued its decision on September 21, 1993. Notice to invoke the discretionary review jurisdiction of this Court was timely filed on October 18, 1993, and by order dated February 15, 1994, this Court accepted jurisdiction, dispensed with oral argument, and ordered briefing on the merits.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred in utilizing a revised scoresheet in sentencing the defendant for violation of community control rather than sentencing under the original scoresheet. Except where a defendant affirmatively misrepresents information related to prior convictions, see Goene v. State, 577 So. 2d 1306 (Fla. 1991), or where a new substantive case (constituting a violation) is also pending for sentencing, State v. Stafford, 593 So. 2d 496 (Fla. 1992), the guidelines by their express terms contemplate the use of the original scoresheet at sentencing upon a violation; Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.800(a) authorizes an after-the-fact revision of a scoresheet at the State's behest only when there are computational errors apparent on the face of the scoresheet or otherwise apparent from the "four corners" of the record, not where the State has mistakenly omitted convictions. Further, use of a different scoresheet at revocation would impede the finality of trial court rulings and engender multiple appeals, in violation of the policy of Shull v. Dugger, 515 So. 2d 748 (Fla. 1987).

The decision in <u>(Anthony) Roberts v. State</u>, 611 So. 2d 58 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), <u>review granted</u>, Case No. 81,182 (Fla. July 12, 1993), allowing use at a violation sentencing of a different scoresheet encompassing convictions omitted from the original scoresheet, is contrary to the foregoing and to the decisions of every other district court of appeal on the point. Moreover, <u>Roberts</u> is distinguishable from the instant case because the defendant herein was placed on community control following a plea,

unlike the defendant in <u>Roberts</u> who was placed on supervision following a conviction after trial by jury. A plea involves the additional considerations of expectations shaped by an agreement and due process protections. If a different scoresheet is allowed to be employed upon violation of supervision imposed following to a negotiated plea, the implicit or express terms of such a plea are altered and a defendant would have to be given the right to withdraw the plea prior to being sentenced on such a basis. That approach undermines the policies of efficient and final case resolution underlying pleas, and has the effect of returning a case to "square one" long after the original disposition. Accordingly, <u>Roberts</u> should be disapproved, or, at minimum, held limited to sentencing for violation of supervision which was imposed following a trial conviction only and not a plea.

ARGUMENT

WHERE A DEFENDANT, PLACED ON COMMUNITY CONTROL OR PROBATION PURSUANT TO A PLEA, IS BEFORE A TRIAL COURT FOR SENTENCING ON A VIOLATION AND THERE IS NEITHER A NEW SUBSTANTIVE CASE (CONSTITUTING Α VIOLATION) PENDING FOR SENTENCING BEFORE THE COURT AT THE SAME TIME NOR DID THE DEFENDANT MISLEAD THE STATE OR COURT WITH RESPECT TO THE ORIGINAL SCORESHEET, THE TRIAL COURT IS PROPERLY REQUIRED то UTILIZE THE ORIGINAL SCORESHEET IN SENTENCING THE DEFENDANT ON THE VIOLATION.

Except for a scoresheet incorrectly computed because of a defendant's affirmative misrepresentations, <u>see</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Goene v.</u> <u>State</u>, 577 So. 2d 1306 (Fla. 1991), or where a separate substantive offense (constituting a violation) is pending before the court for sentencing at the time a defendant is sentenced for violation of probation or community control, <u>see</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>State v. Tito</u>, 616 So. 2d 39 (Fla. 1993); <u>State v. Stafford</u>, 593 So. 2d 496 (Fla. 1992), a trial court in sentencing for a violation must employ the scoresheet utilized at the original sentencing, as each of the other district courts of appeal has so held.

<u>See Pfeiffer v. State</u>, 568 So. 2d 530 (Fla. 1st DCA 1990); Jasperson v. State, 603 So. 2d 144 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); <u>Dennis v.</u> <u>State</u>, 597 So. 2d 942 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); <u>Walton v. State</u>, 596 So. 2d 1255 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992), <u>dism</u>., 605 So. 2d 1268 (Fla. 1992); <u>Walker v. State</u>, 593 So. 2d 301 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); <u>Tillman v.</u> <u>State</u>, 592 So. 2d 767 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); <u>Manuel v. State</u>, 582 So. 2d 823 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991); <u>Harris v. State</u>, 574 So. 2d 1211 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991), <u>dismissed</u>, 581 So. 2d 1310 (Fla. 1991); <u>Columbo v.</u> <u>State</u>, 575 So. 2d 1387 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991); <u>Graham v. State</u>, 559

So. 2d 343 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990); <u>Holloman v. State</u>, 600 So. 2d 522 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992).²

The same principle precludes use of a different scoresheet following an appellate sentencing reversal, <u>Harris v. State</u>, 600 So. 2d 548 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); <u>Pittman v. State</u>, 604 So. 2d 1263 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992); <u>Braddy v. State</u>, 593 So. 2d 1225 (Fla. 4th DCA 1992), and precludes resentencing upon a State motion to correct sentence under Fla.R.Crim.P. 3.800(a), for a sentence under an initial scoresheet which through no fault of the defendant did not fully score a prior record is neither an "illegal" sentence nor one involving "an incorrect calculation(.)". <u>Senior v. State</u>, 502 So. 2d 1360 (Fla. 5th DCA 1987), <u>rev. den</u>., 577 So. 2d 1306 (Fla. 1987).

The contrary decision in <u>(Anthony) Roberts v. State</u>, 611 So. 2d 58 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), <u>review granted</u>, Case No. 81,182 (Fla. July 12, 1993), allowing a court in sentencing for a violation to use a different scoresheet encompassing convictions omitted on the initial scoresheet, should be disapproved for the several reasons which follow. Further, as will also be discussed, there is a pertinent factual distinction between <u>Roberts</u> and this case.

First, the sentencing guidelines themselves by their express

A panel of the Fifth District has, inexplicably without acknowledging or referring to <u>Holloman v. State</u>, subsequently aligned itself with the lower court. <u>Scherwitz v. State</u>, 618 So. 2d 793 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993). Because <u>Scherwitz</u> did not present any analysis of the issue but merely quoted the decision below, and the latter is fully discussed herein, it (<u>Scherwitz</u>) will not be separately discussed.

terms contemplate use of the original scoresheet in sentencing on a violation of probation or community control: "The sentence imposed after revocation of probation or community control may be included within the <u>original</u> cell (guidelines range) or may be increased to the <u>next higher</u> cell (guidelines range) without requiring a reason for departure." Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.701(d)(14) [emphasis added].

Second, it is the State's burden to score prior record correctly, and the rules of criminal procedure by their express terms (Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.800(a)) state that it is <u>miscalculations</u> (i.e., errors on the face of a scoresheet or determinable from the "four corners" of the record, <u>see</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, <u>Senior v. State</u>, <u>supra</u>), that are subject to correction at any time, and not errors of omission.

Third, allowing re-scoring at any time precludes a single, determinative appellate resolution of scoring disputes and provides for multiplication of sentencing scoring appeals, violating the principle of <u>Shull v. Dugger</u>, 515 So. 2d 748 (Fla. 1987), which prohibited enunciation of new reasons for departure sentencing after earlier reasons had been reversed by an appellate court. As stated by the unanimous <u>Shull</u> court:

> We believe the better policy requires the trial court to articulate all of the reasons for departure in the original order. To hold otherwise may needlessly subject the defendant to unwarranted efforts to justify the original sentence and also might lead to absurd results. One can envision numerous resentencings as, one by one, reasons are rejected in multiple appeals.

515 So. 2d at 750.

To paraphrase <u>Shull</u>, if a scoresheet different from the original one may typically be employed at revocation proceedings, one can envision numerous resentencings as, one by one, scoring attributions or errors are rejected in multiple appeals. To the contrary of such a repetitive, burdensome, and indeterminate process, the better policy requires that where (as here) the defendant has not misled the State or the court, <u>see Goene v.</u> <u>State</u>, and no substantive offense (constituting a violation) is also pending for sentencing with the violation, <u>see State v. Tito</u>, that the State be held to its burden of scoring all other offenses properly at the initial sentencing or be barred thereafter.

Indeed, in <u>State v. Tito</u>, which involved a question of scoresheet procedure where a substantive offense (constituting a violation) <u>is</u> pending for sentencing when a judge sentences for a violation, this Court recognized as correct Judge Parker's partial dissent from the district court opinion [<u>Tito v. State</u>, 593 So. 2d 284, 286 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992)]. <u>See State v. Tito</u>, 616 So. 2d at 40. In that partial dissent, Judge Parker observed that where a sentence is imposed for a violation of community control or probation and "<u>no new criminal charges</u> [are] <u>pending for</u> <u>sentencing</u>" the trial judge "must utilize the original scoresheet." 593 So. 2d at 287.

Moreover, if the foregoing were not sufficient enough to warrant disapproval of <u>Roberts</u>, that case is in any event distinguishable because it involved an initial sentencing upon a

conviction following a jury trial. Here, in contrast, the defendant was initially placed on community control following a negotiated plea. Every such plea involves at least implicitly, and usually expressly, an expectation and understanding as to the applicable sentencing ranges. <u>See</u>, <u>e.g.</u>, Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.172(c)(iii), (requiring a trial court as part of a plea colloquy to inform the defendant of the applicable penalties).

See also Ashley v. State, 614 So. 2d 486, 488 (Fla. 1993) ("Before a trial judge can accept a plea of guilty or nolo contendere, there must be 'an affirmative showing that it was intelligent and voluntary,' [<u>quoting from Boykin v. Alabama</u>, 395 U.S. 238 (1969)] for '[w]hat is at stake for an accused facing death or imprisonment demands the utmost solicitude of which courts are capable in canvassing the matter with the accused to make sure he has a full understanding of what the plea connotes and of its consequence.' . . . Accordingly, before a court may accept a guilty or nolo plea it must determine on the record that the defendant is aware of the 'maximum possible penalty provided by law' that may be imposed for the crime. Maximum penalties for most felonies are determined according to the sentencing guidelines, which establish recommended (and now, permitted) ranges of punishment.").

Such expectations are afforded due process protection, and before a defendant may be sentenced contrary to them, he must be given an opportunity to withdraw his plea. <u>See</u>, e.g., <u>Kirkman v.</u> <u>State</u>, 559 So. 2d 695 (Fla. 3d DCA 1990); <u>Deprycker v. State</u>, 486

So. 2d 57 (Fla. 3d DCA 1986); <u>Small v. State</u>, 600 So. 2d 518 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992); <u>Mantle v. State</u>, 592 So. 2d 1190 (Fla. 5th DCA 1992); <u>Gainer v. State</u>, 590 So. 2d 1001 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991); <u>McCollun v. State</u>, 586 So. 2d 490 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991); <u>Edwards v.</u> <u>State</u>, 575 So. 2d 297 (Fla. 4th DCA 1991); <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 547 So. 2d 238 (Fla. 1st DCA 1989); <u>Johnson v. State</u>, 541 So. 2d 1213 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989).

The policies of efficiency and finality underlying resolution of cases by pleas are significantly undermined if different scoresheets may be freely substituted at sentencing upon a violation, which would engender the then-concomitant constitutional requirement of opportunity to withdraw the plea, sending a case back to, in the words of <u>Small v. State</u>, 600 So. 2d at 520, "square one." There is no cogent justification for introducing such uncertainty and open-endedness into the plea process, and, accordingly, except for the <u>Goene v. State</u> and <u>State v. Stafford</u> exceptions, in sentencing for a violation a trial court must use the original scoresheet.

The soundness of this conclusion is underscored by the case of <u>Thomas v. State</u>, 593 So. 2d 219 (Fla. 1992), in which the State had urged its unawareness of the defendant's prior record as a ground to excuse its non-compliance with the terms of a negotiated plea. This Court, although not adjudicating the merits of that contention because concluding that the defendant was nevertheless entitled to withdraw his plea, noted that "[t]he State controls the plea bargaining process and need not enter a plea agreement

until it is satisfied that it has obtained all the pertinent information regarding a defendant's prior record." 593 So. 2d at 221 n.2.

Accordingly, the trial court should not have utilized a different scoresheet at sentencing on the revocation, and should have sentenced according to the original scoresheet. (R-2. 39). Further, the fact this was the second violation of community control merely permitted, but did not, as incorrectly argued by the State below [Tr. Jan. 8, 1993 at 6] require, the trial court to employ multiple "bump-ups."

While <u>Williams v. State</u>, 594 So. 2d 273 (Fla. 1992) makes available sequential bump-ups for sequential violations, a trial court is not obligated to employ them. <u>See id.</u> at 275 ("[I]n the case of multiple violations of probation, the sentences <u>may</u> be bumped one cell or guideline range for each violation." [emphasis supplied]); <u>State v. Roa</u>, 599 So. 2d 995, 996 (Fla. 1992) (Under <u>Williams</u>, "the trial court was not obligated to bump Roa's sentence.").

Nor can it be assumed that the trial court would have employed such bump-ups had it utilized the correct scoresheet. <u>See Desue</u> <u>v. State</u>, 605 So. 2d 933, 935 (Fla. 1st DCA 1992) ("Although the lower court did have such option, the court did not employ a threecell bump-up at sentencing; therefore, it would be speculative for us to assume that it would have done so had appellant's scoresheet been correctly scored(.)"). <u>See also Korynes v. State</u>, 613 So. 2d 116 (Fla. 2d DCA 1993) (fact of numerous prior violations of

probation held improper basis for departure, and in remanding for resentencing, appellate court noted that even though numerous bumpups were available to the trial court the sentence would still have to be less than that which was actually imposed).

CONCLUSION

BASED on the foregoing argument and authorities cited, the sentence imposed by the trial court was erroneous because based on an improperly substituted scoresheet, and the cause should be remanded for resentencing under the original scoresheet. The decision in <u>(Anthony) Roberts v. State</u>, 611 So. 2d 58 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), should be disapproved. Alternatively, for the reasons stated, <u>Roberts v. State</u> has no application where, as here, a plea was involved.