6-	ŕ
	1-10-



IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLERK, SUPREME COURT By _____

Cilie! Deputy Clark

CASE NO. 82,612

WILLIAM ROBERTS,

Petitioner,

-vs-

THE STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY REVIEW

BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUTTERWORTH Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

LESLIE SCHREIBER Florida Bar #0841277 Office of Attorney General Departmentof Legal Affairs Post Office Box 013241 Miami, Florida 33101 (305) 377-5441

INTRODUCTION

The Petitioner at bar, WILLIAM ROBERTS, was the Appellant in the Third District Court of Appeal and the Defendant in the trial court. The Respondent, THE STATE OF FLORIDA, was the Appellee in the Third District Court of Appeal and the prosecution in the trial court.

The parties will be referred to in this brief as they stood before the trial court.

Third District Court of Appeal Case Nos. 93-229 and 93-320 were consolidated by the district court. "R1" shall reflect the record on appeal in Case No. 93-229; "R2" shall reflect Case No. 93-230; "T" will refer to the transcript.

-i-

COMBINED STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

In November, 1990 the state filed an information charging the defendant with two counts of burglary of a dwelling, two counts of grand theft and one count of petit theft (R2, p. 4-8), Case No. 90-1827-CF. In January, 1991, the defendant was informed against for committing one count as an accessory after the fact to the placement of a destructive or explosive device, in violation of § 790.162 Fla. Stat. (1991); (R1, p. 4).

On January 29, 1991, the defendant entered into a negotiated plea of nolo contendere in the Monroe County Circuit Court Case No. 90-2049 (R1, p. 21, 27, 28; R2, p. 32-34). He entered a plea of guilty in Case No. 90-1827 for burglary of a dwelling, Count I and Count III, for grand theft (T. January 29, 1991, p. 4). He also plead no contest to Count II in Case No. 90-2049-CF for accessory after the fact.

Sentencing was scheduled for February 8, 1991 before Judge Richard Payne (T. February 8, 1991). The court withheld adjudication, and placed the defendant on two years of community control in Case No. 90-1827-CF for burglary of a dwelling, followed by five years of probation, and for the charge of grand theft, a concurrent term of two years (T. February 8, 1991, p. 13). In Case No. 90-2049-CF, he was placed on three years probation to run concurrently to Count I in Case No. 90-1827 (R2, p. 41; 49-53).

-2-

The scoresheet used for the original sentencing used was a Category 5 guidelines scoresheet (Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.988(j).¹ It totaled 46 points, placing the defendant in the first grid, with a recommended and permitted range of any non-state prison sanction (R2, p. 39).

In November, 1992, the defendant violated the technical terms of his supervision (R1, p. 44). The defendant appeared before Circuit Judge Richard Fowler on January 8, 1993, and voluntarily admitted to having violated the terms of his community control on no less than five occasions. These included testing positive for cocaine on February 25, 1991 and April 14, 1992; having been at Friday's on one occasion and at Fantasy Fest on another when he was supposed to be at home; and being in arrears in restitution for a total of \$1,230.00 (R1, p. 46, 54; T. Jan 8, at 3-4). On that date, the Department of Corrections recommended 22 months concurrent on both cases (T. January 8, 1993, p. 3). The State disagreed with the recommendation, saying that would be an illegal sentence. The state explained, "[H]e But this is his scores three-and-a-half to four-and-a-half. second violation on these two sets of cases. He is now bumped up two grids to the five-and-a-half to seven-and-a-half grid. In order to give him a 22-month sentence you would have to depart

-3-

¹ The defendant mistakenly points out in his brief that the scoresheet used was a 3.988(e) guidelines scoresheet. (See Brief on the Merits, p. 2).

down at least three grids." (T. January 8, 1993, p. 6). Over defense objection, a new scoresheet was used which included juvenile record scoring not included on the original scoresheet, with a total of 95 points and a permitted range of two-and-a-half years to five-and-a-half years imprisonment (R1, p. 55; 58; R2, p. 39; 94).

Under this new scoresheet, the court sentenced the defendant to concurrent terms of five years imprisonment (T. January 8, 1993, p. 9; R2, p. 105).

The defendant appealed each case, and the district court consolidated the appeal. The Third District Court of Appeal affirmed the sentence on the authority of <u>(Anthony) Roberts v.</u> <u>State</u>, 611 So. 2d 58 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), which held that when a defendant is sentenced on a revocation of probation, a different guidelines scoresheet, containing additional convictions omitted from the original scoresheet without fault of and without any misrepresentation by the defendant, may be utilized under the sentencing guidelines. <u>(William) Roberts v. State</u>, 623 So. 2d 870 (Fla. 3d DCA 1993). The Supreme Court of Florida granted review in <u>(Anthony) Roberts v. State</u>, 611 So. 2d 58 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), Case No. 81,182 but as of April 7, 1993 it remains pending.

-4-

After the Third District Court of Appeal issued its opinion, the defendant filed a Notice to Invoke the Discretionary Jurisdiction in the Florida Supreme Court on October 18, 1993. The Court accepted jurisdiction, and has ordered briefing on the merits. We respond.

POINT ON APPEAL

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY SCORED THE DEFENDANT USING A REVISED SCORESHEET FOLLOWING FIVE VIOLATIONS OF PROBATION, WHERE HE HAD BEEN PLACED ON COMMUNITY CONTROL FOLLOWING A NEGOTIATED PLEA?

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Third District's application of (Anthony) Roberts v. State in reaching the merits of the case at bar, is correct. The Respondent distinguishes this situation from one where a defendant makes an affirmative misrepresentation or commits a new substantive offense, the noted exceptions for using a second We note the Fifth District's recent reliance on scoresheet. (Anthony) Roberts in Scherwitz v. State, 618 So. 2d 793 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993), as support for our view that using a revised scoresheet was proper in this situation where the defendant admittedly committed five technical violations. Even though the defendant entered into a negotiated plea, that is not enough to distinguish this case from (Anthony Roberts). The defendant essentially breached his contract with the state by committing the violation, and he should not be able to reap the benefits of his self-inflicted criminal acts.

ARGUMENT

THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY SCORED THE DEFENDANT USING A REVISED SCORESHEET FOLLOWING FIVE VIOLATIONS OF PROBATION, WHERE HE HAD BEEN PLACED ON COMMUNITY CONTROL FOLLOWING A NEGOTIATED PLEA.

The defendant contends that the trial court improperly utilized a new scoresheet in sentencing him on January 8, 1993 following his violations of probation, because on resentencing, it included other convictions inadvertently omitted from the original scoresheet. The state will demonstrate that the appellate court's application of <u>(Anthony) Roberts v. State</u>, 611 So. 2d 58 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), <u>review granted</u>, Case No. 81, 182 (Fla. July 12, 1993) in reaching the merits of the case at bar, is correct.

The defendant bases its argument that a trial court in sentencing for a violation must employ a scoresheet utilized at the original sentencing by distinguishing what are clear-cut exceptions: (1) where a scoresheet is incorrectly computed because of a defendant's affirmative misrepresentations², or (2) where a separate substantive offense constituting a violation is

² Goene v. State, 577 So. 2d 1306 (Fla. 1991).

pending before the court for sentencing at the time a defendant is sentenced for violation of probation or community control.³

Historically, in those situations where the state was unaware of prior convictions, like in the case where a defendant was operating under an alias, it was precluded from using a new See Manuel v. State, 582 So. 2d 823 (Fla. 2d DCA scoresheet. 1991); Jasperson v. State, 605 So. 2d 144 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); Dennis v. State, 597 So. 2d 942 (Fla. 2d DCA 1992); Harris v. State, 547 So. 2d 1211 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991). The rationale for this exclusion was generally based on the distinction presented in Goene v. State, 577 So. 2d 1306 (Fla. 1991), which was: where defendant makes affirmative misrepresentations about his а identity during original sentencing which results in an inaccurate scoresheet, he can be resentenced to a greater term without violating the prohibitions against double jeopardy.

It appears that in the recent <u>Scherwitz v. State</u>, 618 So. 2d 793 (Fla. 5th DCA 1993) case, the Fifth District deviated from <u>Goene</u> by refocusing its attention, not on whether the defendant made affirmative misrepresentations, but on whether the scoresheet itself was erroneous or not. The Fifth District noted the divergent views between <u>Graham v. State</u>, 559 So. 2d 343 (Fla. 4th DCA 1990) and <u>(Anthony) Roberts v. State</u>, 611 So. 2d 58 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992). The Fifth District sided with the Third District's

⁵ <u>State v. Tito</u>, 616 So. 2d 39 (Fla. 1993); <u>Stafford v. State</u>, 593 So. 2d 496 (Fla. 1992).

-9-

rationale in <u>(Anthony) Roberts</u> noting that, "[n]either the rules nor the substantive law justifies a defendant receiving the largesse of a judicial error." <u>(Anthony) Roberts</u> at 611 So. 2d 58. The Fifth District also found the defendant's deed of violating probation was what triggered the resentencing. That took defendant out of the realm of being sentenced for precisely the same conduct.

<u>Sub</u> judice, the defendant noted his surprise with the <u>Scherwitz</u> decision, and questioned the court's alignment with (<u>Anthony</u>) <u>Roberts</u>. Contrary to the defendant's assertion that the <u>Scherwitz</u> court did not present any analysis, we believe that by directly quoting from (<u>Anthony</u>) <u>Roberts</u>, the court honored the reasoning of the Third District, and thereby adopted it.⁴ This Court should similarly align itself with the Third District's analysis in (<u>Anthony</u>) <u>Roberts v. State</u>, when deciding this particular case.

At bar, the defendant cannot claim surprise at the result of the inclusion of his prior previously scored juvenile convictions and he should not be permitted to benefit from his failure to correct the court's misapprehension as to their correct number. Both <u>(Anthony) Roberts</u> and <u>Scherwitz</u> seem to place less emphasis on a defendant's "expectation of finality" in his sentence. <u>Cf. Goene</u>, 577 So. 2d 1308. A prisoner's

⁴ See footnote 2, Petitioner's brief, pg. 7.

-10-

expectation of finality should cease when his original sentence is affected by some affirmative act. The instant defendant's "affirmative act" involved committing technical violations of probation.

The defendant asserts that it is the state's burden to score prior records correctly, citing Fla. R. Crim. P. 3.800(a). While this statement may be generally true, there are some obvious exceptions. For example, as is evinced in <u>Goene</u> where a defendant makes affirmative misrepresentations to the court.

Next, the defendant relies on the fact that a plea was entered into at bar as distinguishing this case from (Anthony) Roberts. Further, that entry into a negotiated plea involves an defendant's understanding of the applicable sentencing ranges, citing to cases which stress the defendant's expectation and understanding of the consequences of that particular plea. Contrary to the defendant's assertion that using a second scoresheet would introduce uncertainly and open-endedness into the plea process, we cannot ignore the defendant's input when he opened up Pandora's box, so to speak. An integral factor that the defendant fails to mention is the purpose behind a negotiated That is, a defendant enters into a mutually advantageous plea. See Novaton v. State, 19 Fla. L. agreement with the state. Weekly S136 (Fla. March 24, 1994) (the Court distinguishes between a plea and a plea bargain). When the defendant at bar

-11-

technically violated his probation, he undermined the plea agreement. He essentially breached his contract with the state. By adopting the rationale of <u>(Anthony) Roberts</u> and applying it to this set of facts, the defendant at bar should not be able to reap the benefit of his illegal conduct.

Finally, should the matter be remanded for resentencing, the defendant could ultimately face a sentence much greater than he currently does. The trial court should have factored in the five technical violations into its sentencing calculations. The Florida Supreme Court, in Williams v. State, 594 So. 2d 2273, 175 (Fla. 1992) has stated "that in the case of multiple violations of probation, the sentences may be bumped one cell or guideline range for each violation." Therefore, if the defendant is correct in asserting that his original guidelines scoresheet should have been utilized, his score may be bumped a total of five cells for the violations he confessed to at his hearing. These then would permit the trial court to sentence him, under the guidelines scoresheet in effect at the time of his original sentencing hearing, up to a permitted range of four and one-half years to nine years in prison. See also: State v. Tito, 616 So. 2d 39 (Fla. 1993).

-12-

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing points and authority, the sentence imposed by the trial court when it used a second scoresheet after violations of probation, was proper. The decision in <u>(Anthony) Roberts</u>, 611 So. 2d 58 (Fla. 3d DCA 1992), should be approved.